

RESEARCH REPORT

Engagement and Persistence in Child Welfare Services

Implications for Program Effectiveness

Bridgette Lery URBAN INSTITUTE Karin Malm

Amy McKlindon CHILD TRENDS

OPRE Report #2022-06

August 2022

Engagement and Persistence in Child Welfare Services

Bridgette Lery, Karin Malm, and Amy McKlindon

OPRE REPORT #2022-06 AUGUST 2022

SUBMITTED TO

Kathleen Dwyer and Alysia Blandon, project officers Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation Administration for Children and Families US Department of Health and Human Services

Contract Number: HHS P233-2015-00064I

SUBMITTED BY

Michael Pergamit, Principal Investigator Urban Institute 500 L'Enfant Plaza SW Washington, DC 20024

This report is in the public domain. Permission to reproduce is not necessary. Suggested citation: Lery, Bridgette, Karin Malm, and Amy McKlindon. 2022. *Engagement and Persistence in Child Welfare Services: Implications for Program Effectiveness*. OPRE Report #2022-06. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, US Department of Health and Human Services.

DISCLAIMER

The views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, the Administration for Children and Families, or the US Department of Health and Human Services. This report and others sponsored by the Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation are available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/opre. Cover image by Ridofranz/iStock.



Sign-up for the OPRE newsletter



Follow OPRE on Twitter @OPRE_ACF



facebook.com/OPRE.ACF



Connect on LinkedIn company/opreacf



Follow OPRE on Instagram @opre_acf







Contents

Acknowledgments	iv
Engagement and Persistence in Child Welfare Services	1
What Is Engagement?	2
Why Are Engagement and Participation Important?	3
Scope of the Problem	4
Reasons for Low Participation	4
Solutions for Increasing Participation in Services	8
Challenges and Solutions to Participation in Evaluation	11
Conclusions and Implications	13
References	15
About the Authors	19
Statement of Independence	20

Acknowledgments

This report is part of activities to support evidence building in child welfare through a contract to the Urban Institute funded by the Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families. We are grateful to them and to all our funders, who make it possible for Urban to advance its mission. We would also like to thank our project officers Kathleen Dwyer and Alysia Blandon for their guidance and input as well as Cara Kelly and other reviewers at OPRE and the Children's Bureau for their valuable comments. The Supporting Evidence Building in Child Welfare project (https://www.acf.hhs.gov/opre/project/supporting-evidence-building-child-welfare-2016-2025) includes conducting rigorous evaluations of child welfare programs, practices, and policies as well as building evaluation capacity in the child welfare field. All the Roadmaps to Building Evidence in Child Welfare products can be found at https://www.urban.org/projects/roadmaps-building-evidence-child-welfare.

The views expressed are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the Urban Institute, its trustees, or its funders. Funders do not determine research findings or the insights and recommendations of Urban experts. Further information on the Urban Institute's funding principles is available at urban.org/fundingprinciples.

iv ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Engagement and Persistence in Child Welfare Services

The child welfare field is committed to building evidence of the effectiveness of programs designed to strengthen families and prevent children's removal from their homes. Family engagement in and persistence through a program plays a critical role in the program's ability to positively effect change and demonstrate any changes through rigorous evaluation. From the design of a program through its evaluation, program developers, implementers, and evaluators can take several steps to identify and address barriers to engagement to better meet families' needs and strengthen the evidence base for the child welfare field.

The extent to which a program is effective depends in large part on participation. Even the highest-quality program cannot achieve the desired outcomes if people do not engage or actively participate. First and foremost, this affects children and families. But lack of initial and persistent engagement in a program also threatens the ability of program implementers and evaluators to produce evidence about the program's effectiveness (NIMH 2001). This report first summarizes the research on the extent of and reasons for low participation in services for families in the child welfare system and how participation affects evaluations. Next, it discusses ways to improve program and evaluation participation and how this supports a program's ability both to be effective and assess and document effectiveness.

Public child welfare agencies play an important role in engaging families, improving their chances of participating in services, and evaluating those services. Child welfare caseworkers sometimes provide services and are often also intermediaries to services, assessing families for eligibility or suitability and then encouraging participation. Relationships between agency staff and families involved with the child welfare agency are inherently coercive. As intermediaries, caseworkers must work especially hard to engage families, and agencies can promote their efforts through training and other supports. In addition, public agencies often contract with nongovernmental service providers, and those providers are often integral to the family engagement process.

Two types of interventions require engagement: (1) specialized programs meant to address one or more specific problems, which serve the caregiver and/or child (e.g., Nurse-Family Partnership, Multisystemic Therapy); and (2) interventions that are themselves engagement strategies, sometimes

called casework interventions (e.g., Motivational Interviewing, Solution-Based Casework), which are designed to help the service provider or child welfare worker motivate families to engage with their case plan (sometimes including participation in specialized programs). Community-level interventions such as family resource centers fall into this category because they seek to engage families in a wide range of services for varying amounts of time, according to self-defined family needs. This report focuses on participation in specialized programs and their evaluations but also refers to engagement interventions as potential strategies for increasing participation in specialized programs.

What Is Engagement?

Engagement is a two-way interaction involving both the service provider and the person or family intended to participate in services (Staudt 2007). Either may initiate the interaction, but a provider successfully engages a person if the person engages in return. In concrete terms and in the context of child welfare programs, the person returns the engagement by participating. People make multiple decisions about participating in a service or a program. Isolating these decision points is critical because each one is an opportunity for service providers to engage potential participants or to inadvertently push them away. Individual engagement also involves adherence—the degree to which potential participants not only show up, but also participate during sessions (e.g., group discussions) and between sessions (e.g., "homework")—and cognition—which involves understanding of, and agreement with, the treatment's approach, purpose, and expected outcomes (Chacko et al. 2016; Gillespie et al. 2004).

Recruitment starts the engagement process and can be defined as the share of the target population that the provider approaches (following referral or self-referral) and intends to enroll (Hackworth et al. 2018; Matthews et al. 2011). The child welfare worker might initiate recruitment by identifying the family as eligible, discussing the program with the family, and making a referral. Enrollment can be indicated by a mutual agreement with the service provider that the person or family will participate in some set of activities, perhaps for a defined period or number of times marked by a date. It can also be defined as the share of those recruited who show up at least once. Enrolling does not guarantee that people or families will continue to participate. After enrollment, providers and child welfare workers often need to encourage participants to continue to participate, or persist, for them to benefit from the program. Conversely, attrition occurs when participants enroll but do not persist, dropping out somewhere along the way. Frequent provider and child welfare staff turnover can contribute to

[&]quot;Motivational Interviewing," Title IV-E Prevention Services Clearinghouse, updated December 2020, https://preventionservices.abtsites.com/programs/256/show.

attrition, leaving participants with inconsistent or intermittent engagement.² And despite best practice guidelines encouraging child welfare workers to engage families, organizational and institutional conditions can compete with those best practices (Smith and Donovan 2003). Resource limitations, time pressures, and heavy documentation requirements are some examples described in Michael Lipsky's (1980) seminal book about public service bureaucracies.

If the program has a defined endpoint, such as completion criteria or goals met, then the service provider has yet another opportunity to engage the participant toward that end. Many programs struggle with initial engagement, ongoing engagement, or reaching the finish line with participants. At each stage participation may be less than desired (Armbruster and Kazdin 1994; Chacko et al. 2016; Gomby 2000; Ingoldsby 2010; Masi, Miller, and Olson 2003). If a program's design does not have clear markers for enrollment, completion, or what constitutes sufficient ongoing participation, it is more difficult to pinpoint where engagement may have gone awry.

Why Are Engagement and Participation Important?

The consequences of low participation are straightforward: families' needs may not be met, their outcomes may be poor, and cancellations and no-shows are costly for service providers. When low participation stems from the program not identifying, misidentifying, or not reaching the population it intends to serve, it wastes program resources that could be better spent actually serving the intended participants (Bayder, Reid, and Webster-Stratton 2003; Boggs et al. 2004; Ingoldsby 2010; Spoth, Redmond, and Shin 2000).

Low program participation also hinders the child welfare field's ability to understand program effectiveness. Many randomized controlled trials suffer from low program participation rates, yet a rigorous design requires that all members of an intervention group be included when estimating effects, even those who do not participate and who only partially participate. Known as an intent-to-treat design, this evaluation method includes everyone the program intended to treat in the analysis, regardless of whether they actually enrolled, persisted, or completed the program. Intent-to-treat designs allow for making causal claims because they avoid the selection bias that occurs when including some people and not others in program impact analyses. However, if many people do not fully participate, program impact analyses may result in lower or no positive impacts. Both program

² "How Does Turnover Affect Outcomes and What Can Be Done to Address Retention?," Casey Family Programs, accessed July 15, 2021, https://www.casey.org/turnover-costs-and-retention-strategies/.

evaluators and program implementers should be prepared to look for and address engagement problems.

Scope of the Problem

Intervention literature recognizes that low initial engagement and attrition are significant threats to establishing evidence about programs and services. Research shows that child and family mental health interventions often experience high dropout rates (20 to 80 percent) (Ingoldsby 2010). Many implementation studies describe program fidelity without attention to participation unless a key component of the intervention is encouraging participation itself (e.g., multidimensional family recovery). In that case, designing an evaluation that randomizes prospective participants before asking them to participate allows for examination of who is most likely to engage and enroll. Some impact studies report the number of people treated among the number the program intended to treat but do not further examine who enrolls or persists. Many studies report only on those who participated in part or in full, ruling out the ability to understand who chose not to participate (Cosgrove, Lee, and Unick 2020; Huebner, Willauer, and Posze 2012), and undermining the rigor of a random assignment design.

Reasons for Low Participation

The literature identifies reasons programs fail to elicit sufficient participation, which can be categorized into program and service provider characteristics (including the quality of the service provider—participant relationship as well as organizational supports), individual participant characteristics, and community characteristics (Akin et al. 2017; Hackworth et al. 2018). Program implementers and evaluators should consider the potential recruitment, enrollment, persistence, and completion challenges along these dimensions when implementing and evaluating a program.

Program and Service Provider Characteristics

Programs often fail to accurately identify, locate, or engage the target population. Motivation is often cited as a factor affecting program participation (Ingoldsby 2010), yet programs must create compelling motivation for participants to be willing to participate. The busy and challenging circumstances of the families involved with child protective services (CPS) makes programs requiring considerable time commitments (e.g., multiple sessions per week, travel distances) less desirable and feasible to families.

Research suggests program characteristics related to participant motivation and engagement include culturally competent service providers, staff training and supervisory support, manageable provider caseloads, and content that matches participants' interests and needs (Ingoldsby 2010; Korfmacher et al 2008).

Service provider characteristics can also pose barriers or facilitators to engagement. In one study of parents overcoming addiction, participants identified fear, shyness, stigma, distrust, intimidation, and powerlessness as personal reasons for lack of engagement and therefore reported preferring service providers who are caring, nonjudgmental, strengths oriented, and supportive (Akin et al. 2017). Program requirements or rules also affect engagement. Children and young people in out-of-home care are also often asked to participate in family-based or individual programs and may disengage if they perceive the service as "too strict" or rigid in terms of rules (Curry et al. 2021).

Parents working with CPS to prevent having their children removed or to reunify with their children following a removal may feel especially vulnerable and mistrustful. A study conducted by Farrell and colleagues (2012) found that unstably housed parents involved with child welfare were more likely to accept and participate in a supportive housing program when offered the program through the housing department rather than CPS.

When families do access a program through their child welfare caseworker, the child welfare agency can impact engagement. Structurally, the child welfare system influences successful program recruitment, enrollment, and persistence. Caseworkers are tasked with building relationships with children and parents under profoundly stressful circumstances. Families may be worried about their privacy, wondering if the caseworker and service provider share sensitive information with each other or with the evaluator. Child welfare agencies' referral processes, caseworker trainings (e.g., on service offerings, engagement, confidentiality), and partnerships with service providers all shape how caseworkers interact with and offer services to families (Arild and Fossum 2013; Falletta et al. 2018). Frequent staff turnover can hinder the development of collaborative relationships between families and caseworkers (Cheng and Lo 2020) and thwart an agency's efforts to keep staff up to date on the menu of services available and eligibility for those services. Workers may have program preferences or biases that affect their willingness to refer families and encourage families to engage and persist in services. Organizational attention to race, class, and culture, along with delivery of trauma-informed practices, have been shown to increase service take-up (Cheng and Lo 2012; McBeath et al. 2014; Stephens et al. 2018).

Organizational barriers to service engagement also present challenges to families' participation in evaluation. Both the service provider and child welfare agency play a critical role in supporting program

evaluation. Depending on the type of data needed, an evaluation may require parent consent or youth assent to participate. The caseworker, often the first person to talk with the family about a program, may be asked to inform families about participating in an evaluation. They may also be asked to administer consent forms, enroll the family, and help the evaluator contact the family for data collection. If worker buy-in about the evaluation, training, or clear communication about confidentiality are not in place, family participation in the evaluation may suffer.

Participant Characteristics

Research finds parent and family sociodemographic characteristics affect engagement, although effects differ for initial enrollment and retention. For example, Chacko and colleagues (2016) found socioeconomic status (SES) affected engagement in a parent training program with lower SES leading to less engagement. However, another study found that parents with lower SES, once enrolled, persisted at rates similar to higher-SES parents (Hackworth et al. 2018). Single versus cohabiting caregivers had different engagement in a parenting program, with cohabiting caregivers more engaged than single caregivers (Dumas et al. 2007). Alcohol or drug addiction and mental health challenges may limit participants' ability or motivation to participate (Child Welfare Information Gateway 2018).

Child welfare case plans may require parents to complete multiple programs to either retain custody of their child(ren) or have their child returned to their custody. If parents perceive they have been assigned to general programs such as parenting classes rather than services customized for their needs, they may be less likely to participate. At the same time, most families involved with child welfare systems face challenges such as housing instability, unemployment or underemployment, and lack of reliable transportation and child care, among others. Meeting CPS's demands, in addition to meeting their daily needs, can be overwhelming for parents.

Specific target populations also engage with programs in different ways. For example, individual characteristics such as gender socialization and self-perceived parenting competence, as well as caseworker/systemic biases and gatekeeping by mothers, can affect father engagement (Gordon et al. 2012; Sonenstein et al. 2002). Other studies find fatherhood programs often struggle to engage participants and could benefit from addressing staff bias and developing outreach and informational resources specific to fathers (Washington 2019). Young people also engage in programs differently than adults. A recent review of the literature on engaging young people found little rigorous research to help guide programs but noted that financial incentives may be especially important, as well as programming that includes interaction with peers (Liberman et al. 2021).

Community Characteristics

Community characteristics can also influence participation. A study of postadoption services showed that limited access to competent professionals within the community poses a barrier to service access, especially in rural jurisdictions. Adoptive families viewed few mental health clinicians as adoption competent, which sometimes led families not to persist with services (Rushovich et al. 2019).

While limited, research has explored whether community-level social factors affect engagement in parenting programs (Hackworth et al. 2018). McCurdy and Daro (2001) found that neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is associated with lower reach and enrollment, while Berthelsen and colleagues (2012) and Cortis and others (2009) both found community-level factors such as poor public transportation, long distances to services, and isolation were barriers to enrollment. Strong social and community networks were found to increase program enrollment (Eisner and Meidert 2011; McCurdy and Daro 2001). In places with strong networks, participants might spread the word about a program they found beneficial, or members of the networks may encourage others to participate.

A Word about Persistence

Above we described numerous reasons for low program participation, which can include program persistence, or retention. A few other factors can specifically affect persistence. In particular, staff turnover can discourage participants from persisting in a program they have started, especially in programs that build on a strong service provider–participant relationship. This is true for services delivered one-on-one, such as counseling sessions, and for programs with a long series of group sessions like parent training, where the service provider can develop close bonds with participants. Likewise, if some parents drop out of the group, others may follow.

Another important factor affecting participant persistence is the extent to which the program can produce results in line with the participants' or others' (e.g., caseworkers) expectations. CPS timelines can be short and sometimes incompatible with programs requiring a trusting relationship to develop between the participant and practitioner. Participants can get discouraged if timelines are not aligned. And, as mentioned earlier, mismatch of services with participant needs may also discourage ongoing participation in services.

Solutions for Increasing Participation in Services

To increase participants' engagement and persistence in programs, program developers, implementers, and service providers should consider the following.

- Developing a strong theory of change that clearly identifies the target population. Program effectiveness depends foremost on a strong theory of change that identifies how and why the program or service should solve the specified problem (De Silva et al. 2014). Part of crafting the theory of change is stating clearly who should benefit from the program as designed—the target population. A well-defined target population can maximize participation. It should specify the characteristics, needs, and sometimes the circumstances of prospective participants. Engagement efforts can be designed with these aspects in mind. Conversely, an ill-defined target population can explain why prospective participants do not respond to a service provider's engagement attempts.
- Attending to operational challenges within the child welfare agency to facilitate engagement. Programs sponsored or promoted by the child welfare agency should train child welfare workers on program eligibility and benefits, the referral process, and following up on families' ongoing participation and completion.
- Designing and implementing programs in partnership with people with lived experience. The child welfare field has increasingly recognized the importance of engaging people with lived experience (i.e., young people, parents, caregivers) in service and system improvement.³
 Program developers can begin these partnerships in the early stages of program development and refinement to ensure their theory of change is grounded in the lived experiences of the people they seek to support. Although more research is needed, evidence suggests that hiring people with lived experience as part of the service delivery team may also increase participants' engagement in services (Eddie et al. 2019; Wright-Berryman et al. 2011).
- Setting clear engagement expectations in the program manual for staff and participants. A
 clear manual guides all aspects of program implementation, including all initial and ongoing

US Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau, "Engaging, Empowering, and Utilizing Family and Youth Voice in All Aspects of Child Welfare to Drive Case Planning and System Improvement," memorandum for the State, Tribal and Territorial Agencies Administering or Supervising the Administration of Titles IV-B and IV-E of the Social Security Act; State and Tribal Courts and Court Improvement Programs; Community-Based Child Abuse Prevention lead agency and other prevention partners; and Children's Justice Act grantees, August 1, 2019, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/im1903.pdf.

- engagement activities. The manual should clearly specify expectations for how service provider staff will reach out to and enroll participants in services, how they should convey program expectations with participants, and may also include specific strategies and activities to build rapport with participants.
- Supporting high-fidelity implementation. Good intervention fidelity may also facilitate initial and persistent participation. Fidelity to the intervention includes adhering to the program's key components and delivering them with competence. Competence involves delivering the program in an engaging way and being flexible and responsive to participants' reactions, culture, and preferences. For example, a program may call for parents to reward the child for certain behaviors, but the parents may not believe in using rewards and may disengage if this component is rigid. The service provider could suggest alternative ways for the parents to reinforce the desired child behavior and retain the parents' participation (Chamberlain 2020; Cross and West 2011; Perepletchikova, Treat, and Kazdin 2007).
- Supporting participant agency and choice. Both the service provider and program design itself can give participants agency and choice in how and how much they participate. Individual programs may be designed to allow some flexibility for providers to tailor supports to the participants' strengths and needs. Research also suggests that giving participants a choice between two interventions, when feasible, may increase ongoing participation (Finan et al. 2018). Individualized engagement plans can also support the engagement and retention of participants experiencing substance use or mental health needs.
- Enhancing participant knowledge about programs. Educating participants on the nature of services and what they can expect in frequency and content can support retention (Lindsey et al. 2014). This education can begin at the point of initial outreach, and service providers can develop a marketing plan that clearly conveys the benefits and expectations of participation and is tailored to the local community (Barnes-Proby et al. 2017).
- Improving the quality of care can address participant motivation to participate. When participants understand and see the benefits of services and form collaborative partnerships with service providers that meet their needs, they are more likely to remain engaged in services (Barnes-Proby et al. 2017). Service providers can better meet participants' needs by individualizing services to address practical (e.g., transportation) and psychological (e.g., other stressors) barriers to engagement (Ingoldsby 2010). Building staff competencies (e.g., around maintaining a strengths-based orientation) can increase engagement (Akin et al. 2017). Youth

- engagement improves when staff build rapport, gain trust, and engage in frequent and consistent communication (Curry et al. 2021).
- Providing concrete supports and/or incentives for participation. By helping participants first address their immediate concrete needs, service providers can build rapport and ensure participants can devote time and attention to services. While numerous incentive strategies (e.g., stipends, meals, transportation, child care) are used by programs and agencies, limited rigorous research exists to determine which strategies are most effective. Some research has shown financial incentives to be helpful with initial enrollment but less beneficial for retention; however, Rostad et al. (2017) found that providing concrete supports for families with low socioeconomic status and child welfare involvement did increase engagement and retention.
- Using culturally appropriate strategies and services. Cultural differences in parenting practices, familial relationships, mental health, and other areas need to be considered during program development. Differing treatment options and modes of delivery may be needed to meet the cultural needs of a wide range of participants. Service providers can work with program developers and community stakeholders to adapt services to be more culturally appropriate for their communities (Axford et al. 2012; Barnes-Proby et al. 2017). Some programs have found that matching staff and families with similar cultural backgrounds (e.g., ethnicity, language) can increase engagement (Barnes-Proby et al. 2017). Outreach and marketing materials should also be culturally aligned with the community the program intends to serve. Evaluators can build critical evidence for the child welfare field by rigorously evaluating cultural adaptations to programs and culturally specific engagement strategies (Ingoldsby 2010).
- Using engagement interventions as potential strategies for increasing participation in specialized programs. Several studies have piloted the addition of engagement interventions to child welfare interventions, with evidence suggesting increased participation and retention in services. Examples include combining Motivational Interviewing and Parent-Child Interaction Therapy (Chaffin et al. 2009), integrating the Parent and Caregiver Participation Toolkit to SafeCare (Haine-Schlagel et al. 2020), and using the Training Intervention for the Engagement of Families in combination with Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (Dorsey et al. 2014).
- Increasing the capacity to deliver services. People may be more likely to participate when services are immediately available, and they do not have to wait for a slot to open. Increasing the number of service slots to meet demand is one solution, although it can be costly.

Colocating services or decentralizing services into satellite locations are other ways to remove time and transportation barriers for participants.

Challenges and Solutions to Participation in Evaluation

Depending on the evaluation design, program participants may be asked to take part in primary data collection activities, or the evaluators may use already available secondary data, such as child welfare administrative data without any additional engagement with participants (box 1).

BOX 1

Types of Evaluation Data

Primary data: "Collected directly from a data source (e.g., an individual involved in an impact evaluation) for the purposes of an evaluation without relying on already available data sources."

Secondary data: "Collected for a purpose other than the evaluation but are available for use in an evaluation."

Source: Mark Courtney, "Types of Data Used for Impact Evaluations," presentation at the Evidence Building Academy, Washington, DC, October 22, 2020.

When evaluators collect primary data, they may face challenges to engaging program participants in activities such as surveys, interviews, or focus groups. People may not see the value of participating in the evaluation, distrust the researchers, and/or fear the information shared will be disclosed (Mirick 2016). Some people may participate initially but not during follow-up rounds of data collection for various reasons (e.g., changes in contact information, disengaging from services). Recruiting people assigned to a control or comparison group in primary data collection is often difficult because of their lack of connection to the program being evaluated. In some situations, child welfare staff may serve as liaisons to this group for study recruitment purposes. Additionally, when data collection continues after case closure, families may be difficult to track and engage because they are no longer in contact with their child welfare caseworker or, potentially, their service provider. Evaluators should consider which methods of primary data collection will be most accessible and comfortable for participants when designing the evaluation—for example, people with limited reading ability may require in-person or phone interviews; technology barriers may limit participation in phone or web-based surveys; and people may feel uncomfortable responding to sensitive questions in-person (Courtney 2020).

To address these challenges, evaluators should consider the following:

- Building the evaluation goals and expectations into program materials. Evaluators can work with program implementers to share information on the evaluation with program participants during service delivery. This can include clearly explaining the evaluation goals and the points in time and ways in which people will be invited to participate in the evaluation. It may also help build trust and engagement in the evaluation process if people receive this information from the service provider with whom they have an established relationship.
- Using participatory evaluation methods. People may be more likely to participate in data collection when their community plays a role in designing and conducting the evaluation (Cargo and Mercer 2008). Program participants and community members can also help inform which data collection strategies are most likely to yield a high response rate based on their knowledge of the service population and the information gathered.
- Training child welfare caseworkers and service providers on the purpose and value of the evaluation and how participant data will be kept confidential. It is critical to train child welfare caseworkers when program referrals come through the child welfare agency rather than the community or self-referral. If caseworkers and service providers are well informed about and buy into the evaluation, they can better communicate that information to families, answer their questions, and respond to their concerns. Evaluators should be prepared to repeat training efforts as a periodic refresher or as staff turnover.
- Ensuring consent information clearly explains the benefits and risks to participation.
 Providing potential study participants (both treatment and comparison groups) with full information on the anticipated benefits and risks to participation may ease their concerns and increase participation in the evaluation. Evaluators should ensure the research or program staff administering consent forms can answer questions clearly in nontechnical language.
 Comparison group participants may need additional detail about the evaluation and its importance. Because they are not participating in the program, they may not be aware that they are part of an evaluation. Consent information should describe the value of contributing to the evaluation.
- Dedicating the evaluation resources required to inform all participants of the study's value, maintain contact, and minimize nonresponse. This includes but goes beyond explaining the benefits during the informed consent process. The effort needed for participant retention can be significant. It includes keeping in contact with study participants over the duration of the

study through communication customized for the participant groups (i.e. email, letters), providing monetary or other types of incentives, and minimizing participant burden (Brueton et al. 2011). Depending on the study design, evaluators can sometimes share interim results. Evaluators may choose to hire external data collectors with specialized skills whose focus is on achieving good response rates.

- Using secondary data instead of primary data when appropriate and available. When secondary data are available, of high quality (e.g., reliable, valid, thorough), and contain the information needed to answer the evaluation questions, evaluators may decide to use administrative data to minimize burden on study participants and costs. Depending on legal requirements in the jurisdiction and the Institutional Review Board reviewing the research, using administrative data often does not require additional individual consent for program improvement (i.e., evaluation) purposes. Although administrative data use can circumvent many engagement challenges identified above, data may not be available for families at all time points (e.g., if a family moves out of the jurisdiction before the study ends).
- Collecting data about nonparticipants. Those who choose to participate in part or not at all are as important as people who fully participate. Administrative data or other referral source data often include the full eligible population for the program and some information about them, such as demographic characteristics. Evaluators can use these data to identify what characterizes people who did not participate or did not fully participate. Implementers and service providers can use that information to adapt their engagement strategies.
 Administrative data are also often reliable sources for achieving data collection parity between treatment and comparison groups, if they do not depend on program participation.

Conclusions and Implications

Implementers and evaluators both want programs to improve outcomes for children and families. To meet this goal, programs must effectively engage those the program was designed to serve. If participants engage and the program is effective, evaluators can likely find those effects by conducting rigorous evaluations. Many solutions to poor program engagement described in this report apply to both increasing participants' engagement (i.e., recruitment, enrollment, and persistence) in services and engaging participants in the evaluative studies designed to examine program impacts.

Both implementers and evaluators should be prepared to prevent, look for, and address barriers to program engagement. Many barriers to engagement are program related and can therefore be

addressed in program development and implementation. Program developers and implementers should strive to use participatory approaches to planning, designing, and implementing programs. These approaches involve seeking input from community members and people with child welfare system experience. By engaging community members in participatory approaches, program implementers can also identify and address gaps in their practice to better engage participants whom they have historically struggled to engage.

References

- Akin, Becci A., Michelle Johnson-Motoyama, Sharah Davis, Megan Paceley, and Jody Brook. 2017. "Parent Perspectives of Engagement in the Strengthening Families Program: An Evidence-Based Intervention for Families in Child Welfare and Affected by Parental Substance Use." *Child and Family Social Work* 23:735–42.
- Alrid, Svein, and Sturla Fossum. 2013. "Organizational Factors and Child Participation Indecision-Making: Differences between Two Child Welfare Organizations." *Child and Family Social Work* 20 (3): 277–87.
- Armbruster, Paula, and Alan E. Kazdin. 1994. "Attrition in Child Psychotherapy." *Advances in Clinical Child Psychology* 16:81–108.
- Axford, Nick, Minna Lehtonen, Dwan Kaoukji, Kate Tobin, and Vashti Berry. 2012. "Engaging Parents in Parenting Programs: Lessons from Research and Practice." *Children and Youth Services Review* 34 (10): 2061–71.
- Barnes-Proby, Dionne, Dana Schultz, Lisa H. Jaycox, and Lynsay Ayer. 2017. "Five Strategies for Successful Recruitment and Retention of Children and Families in Human Service Programs." Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation.
- Baydar, Nazli, M. Jamila Reid, and Carolyn Webster-Stratton. 2003. "The Role of Mental Health Factors and Program Engagement in the Effectiveness of a Preventive Parenting Program for Head Start Mothers." *Child Development* 74 (5): 1433–53.
- Berthelsen, Donna, Kate Williams, Vicky Abad, Lauren Vogel, and Jan Nicholson. 2012. *The Parents at Playgroup Research Report: Engaging Families in Supported Playgroups*. Brisbane, Australia: Queensland University of Technology.
- Boggs, Stephen R., Sheila M. Eyberg, Daniel L. Edwards, Arista Rayfield, Jenifer Jacobs, Daniel Bagner, and Korey K. Hood. 2004. "Outcomes of Parent-Child Interaction Therapy: A Comparison of Treatment Completers and Study Dropouts One to Three Years Later." Child and Family Behavior Therapy 26 (4): 1–22.
- Brueton, Valerie, Jayne Tierney, Sally Stenning, Irwin Nazareth, Sarah Meredith, Seeromanie Harding, and Greta Rait. 2011. "Strategies to Reduce Attrition in Randomised Trials." *Trials* 12 (Suppl. 1):A128.
- Cargo, Margaret, and Shawna L. Mercer. 2008. "The Value and Challenges of Participatory Research: Strengthening its Practice." *Annual Review of Public Health* 29:325–50.
- Chacko, A., Scott A. Jensen, Lynda S. Lowry, Melinda Cornwell, Alyssa Chimklis, Elizabeth Chan, Daniel Lee, and Brenda Pulgarin. 2016. "Engagement in Behavioral Parent Training: Review of the Literature and Implications for Practice." Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review 19 (3): 204–15.
- Chaffin, Mark, Linda Anne Valle, Beverly Funderburk, Robin Gurwitch, Jane Silovsky, David Bard, Carol McCoy, and Michelle Kees. 2009. "A Motivational Intervention Can Improve Retention in PCIT for Low-Motivation Child Welfare Clients." Child Maltreatment 14 (4): 356–68.
- Chamberlain, Patricia. 2020. "Implementation and Fidelity." Presentation at the Evidence Building Academy, Washington, DC, July 21.
- Cheng, Tyrone T., and Celia C. Lo. 2012. "Racial Disparities in Access to Needed Child Welfare Services and Worker-Client Engagement." *Child and Youth Services Review* 34 (9): 1624–32.
- ---. 2020. "Collaborative Alliance of Parent and Child Welfare Caseworker." Child Maltreatment 25 (2): 152-61.
- Child Welfare Information Gateway. 2016. "Family Engagement: Partnering with Families to Improve Child Welfare Outcomes." Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Administration for Children and Families (ACF), and Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation (OPRE).

- Cortis, Natasha, Ilan Katz, and Roger Patulny. 2009. "Engaging Hard-to-Reach Families and Children." *FaHCSIA Occasional Paper* 26.
- Cosgrove, John A., Bethany R. Lee, and George J. Unick. 2020. "A Longitudinal Evaluation of Wraparound's Impact on Youth Mental Health Service Use." *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders* 28 (3): 156–66.
- Courtney, Mark. 2020. "Types of Data Used for Impact Evaluations." Presentation at the Evidence Building Academy, Washington, DC, October 22.
- Cross, Wendi F., and Jennifer C. West. 2011. "Examining Implementer Fidelity: Conceptualizing and Measuring Adherence and Competence." *Journal of Child Services* 6 (1): 18–33.
- Curry, Susanna R., Arturo Baiocchi, Brenda A. Tully, Nathan Garst, Samantha Bielz, Shannon Kugley, and Matthew H. Morton. 2021. "Improving Program Implementation and Client Engagement in Interventions Addressing Youth Homelessness: A Meta-Synthesis." *Children and Youth Services Review* 120:105691.
- De Silva, Mary J., Erica Breuer, Lucy Lee, Laura Asher, Neerja Chowdhary, Crick Lund, and Vikram Patel. 2014. "'Theory of Change:' A Theory-Driven Approach to Enhance for Medical Research Council's Framework for Complex Interventions." *Trials* 15:267.
- Dorsey, Shannon, Michael D. Pullmann, Lucy Berliner, Elizabeth Koschmann, Mary McKay, and Esther Deblinger. 2014. "Engaging Foster Parents in Treatment: A Randomized Trial of Supplementing Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy with Evidence-Based Engagement Strategies." *Child Abuse and Neglect* 38 (9): 1508–20.
- Dumas, Jean E., Jenelle Nissley-Tsiopinis, and Angela D. Moreland. 2007. "From Intent to Enrollment, Attendance, and Participation in Preventive Parenting Groups." *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 16 (1): 1–26.
- Eddie, David, Lauren Hoffman, Corrie Bilsaint, Alexandra Abry, Brandon Bergman, Bettina Hoeppner, Charles Weinstein, and John F. Kelly. 2019. "Lived Experience in New Models of Care for Substance Use Disorder: A Systematic Review of Peer Recovery Support Services and Recovery Coaching." Frontiers in Psychology 10:1052.
- Eisner, Manuel, and Ursula Meidert. 2011. "Stages of Parental Engagement in a Universal Parent Training Program." *Journal of Primary Prevention* 32:83–93.
- Falletta, Lynn, Kelsey Hamilton, Rebecca Fischbein, Julie Aultman, Beth Kinney, and Deric Kenne. 2018. "Perceptions of Child Protective Services among Pregnant or Recently Pregnant, Opioid-Using Women in Substance Abuse Treatment." Child Abuse and Neglect 79:125–35.
- Farrell, Anne, Melissa Luján, Preston A. Britner, Kellie G. Randall, and Samantha A. Goodrich. 2012. "I Am Part of Every Decision': Client Perceptions of Engagement within a Supportive Housing Child Welfare Programme: Client Engagement in Housing and Child Welfare." Child and Family Social Work 17 (2): 254–64.
- Finan, Samantha J., Brooke Swierzbiolek, Naomi Priest, Narelle Warren, and Marie Yap. 2018. "Parental Engagement in Preventive Parenting Programs for Child Mental Health: A Systematic Review of Predictors and Strategies to Increase Engagement." *Peer J.*
- Gillespie, Morna, Jo Smith, Alan Meaden, Chris Jones, and Julia Wane. 2004. "Clients' Engagement with Assertive Outreach Services: A Comparison of Client and Staff Perceptions of Engagement and its Impacts on Later Engagement." *Journal of Mental Health* 13 (5): 439–52.
- Gomby, Deanna S. 2000. "Promise and Limitations of Home Visitation." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 284:1430–31
- Gordon, Derrick M., Arazais Oliveros, Samuel W. Hawes, Derek K. Iwamoto, and Brett S. Rayford. 2012. "Engaging Fathers in Child Protection Services: A Review of Factors and Strategies across Ecological Systems." *Children and Youth Services Review* 34 (8): 1399–1417.
- Hackworth, Naomi J., Jan Matthews, Elizabeth M. Westrupp, Cattram Nguyen, Tracey Phan, Amanda Scicluna, Warren Cann, Donna Bethelsen, Shannon M. Bennetts., and Jan M. Nicholson. 2018. "What Influences Parental

- Engagement in Early Intervention? Parent, Program and Community Predictors of Enrolment, Retention and Involvement." *Prevention Science* 19:880–93.
- Haine-Schlagel, Rachel, Danielle L. Fettes, Natalie Finn, Michael Hurlburt, and Gregory A. Aarons. 2020. "Parent and Caregiver Active Participation Toolkit (PACT): Adaptations for a Home Visitation Program." *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 29 (1): 29–43.
- Huebner, Ruth A., Tina Willauer, and Lynn Posze. 2012. "The Impact of Sobriety Treatment and Recovery Teams (START) on Family Outcomes." *Families in Society* 93 (3): 196–203.
- Ingoldsby, Erin M. 2010. "Review of Interventions to Improve Family Engagement and Retention in Parent and Child Mental Health Programs." *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 19 (5): 629–45.
- Korfmacher, Jon, Beth Green, Fredi Staerkel, Carla Peterson, Gina Cook, Lori Roggman, Richard A. Faldowski, and Rachel Schiffman. 2008. "Parent Involvement in Early Childhood Home Visiting." *Child & Youth Care Forum* 37:171–96.
- Liberman, Akiva, Sham Habteselasse, and Sam Hanft, and Kristin A. Moore. 2021. Youth Programs Can Improve Engagement by Reducing Barriers and Strengthening Relationships. Bethesda, MD: Child Trends
- Lindsey, Michael A., Nicole E. Brandt, Kimberly D. Becker, Bethany R. Lee, Richard P. Barth, and Bruce F., and Eric L. Daleiden. 2014. "Identifying the Common Elements of Treatment Engagement Interventions in Children's Mental Health Services." *Clinician Child and Family Psychology Review* 17 (3): 283–98.
- Lipsky, Michael. 1980. Street-Level Bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the Individual in Public Services. New York: Russell Sage.
- Masi, Maria V., Richard B. Miller, and Michael M. Olson. 2003. "Differences in Dropout Rates among Individual, Couple, and Family Therapy Clients." *Contemporary Family Therapy* 25:63–75.
- Matthews, Jan, Eloise Cameron, Simon Fox, Naomi Hackworth, Misel Kitanovski, and Alvin Vista. 2011. *Supported Playgroups and Parent Groups Initiative (SPPI) Process Evaluation*. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Education and Early Childhood Development.
- McBeath, Bowen, Emmeline Chuang, Alicia Bunger, and Jennifer Blakeslee. 2014. "Under What Conditions Does Caseworker-Caregiver Racial/Ethnic Similarity Matter for Housing Service Provision? An Application of Representative Bureaucracy Theory." Social Service Review 88 (1): 134–65.
- McCurdy, Karen, and Deborah Daro. 2001. "Parent Involvement in Family Support Programs: An Integrated Theory. Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies 50 (2): 113–21.
- Mirick, Rebecca G. 2016. "Challenges in Recruiting Parents to Participate in Child Welfare Research: Implications for Study Design and Research Practice." Child and Family Social Work 21 (4): 484–91.
- NIMH (National Institute of Mental Health). 2001. "Blueprint for Change: Research on Child and Adolescent Mental Health." Washington, DC: The National Advisory Mental Health Council Workgroup on Child and Adolescent Mental Health Intervention Development and Deployment.
- Perepletchikova, Francheska, Teresa A. Treat, and Alan E. Kazdin. 2007. "Treatment Integrity in Psychotherapy Research: Analysis of the Studies and Examination of the Associated Factors." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 75 (6): 829–41
- Rushovich, Berenice, Sharon Vandivere, Alaina Flanigan, Allison Hebert, and Victoria Efetevbia. 2019. VDSS Post-Adoption Consultation Evaluation Report. Bethesda, MD: Child Trends.
- Smith, Brenda D., and Stella E. F. Donovan. 2003. "Child Welfare Practice in Organizational and Institutional Context." *Social Service Review* 77 (4): 541–63.
- Sonenstein, Freya, Karin Malm, and Amy Billing. 2002. Study of Fathers' Involvement in Permanency Planning and Child Welfare Casework. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.

- Staudt, Marlyz. 2007. "Treatment Engagement with Caregivers of At-Risk Children: Gaps in Research and Conceptualization." *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 16:183–96.
- Stephens Tricia, Geetha Gopalan, Mary C. Acri, Melissa Bowman, and Mary M. McKay. 2018. "Culturally Relevant, Trauma-Informed Engagement Strategies for Child Welfare Workers: Moving Beyond Compliance to Engagement with Families Experiencing High Levels of Exposure to Trauma and Stress." In *Trauma Responsive Child Welfare Systems*, edited by Virginia C. Strand and Ginny Sprang, 6786. New York: Springer.
- Spoth, Richard, Cleve Redmond, and Chungyeol Shin. 2000. "Modeling Factors Influencing Enrollment in Family-Focused Preventive Intervention Research. *Prevention Science* 1 (4): 213–225.
- Washington, Ray. 2019. Family Voices: A Father's Perspective in Family Engagement. Philadelphia: National Fatherhood Initiative.
- Wright-Berryman, Jennifer L., Alan B. McGuire, and Michelle P. Salyers. 2011. "A Review of Consumer-Provided Services on Assertive Community Treatment and Intensive Case Management Teams: Implications for Future Research and Practice." Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association 17 (1): 37–44.

About the Authors

Bridgette Lery is a principal research associate at the Urban Institute. She has spent the past two decades working inside or on behalf of child welfare agencies to use their administrative data for better, more equitable decisionmaking. Her research focuses on child maltreatment prevention and child welfare systems, including administrative data systems, performance measurement, capacity building and evidence use in the workforce, program implementation, and evaluation.

Karin Malm is a senior scholar in the child welfare program area at Child Trends with 25 years of experience conducting research and evaluations on issues including adoption and kinship care, foster care, family preservation and support, child protective services, and nonresident father support and engagement.

Amy McKlindon, LMSW, is a research scientist in the child welfare program area at Child Trends. McKlindon's work on child welfare and vulnerable adult issues spans research, policy, and practice in public and private settings. McKlindon is experienced in program evaluation, including both qualitative and quantitative data collection and analysis.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS 19

STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE

The Urban Institute strives to meet the highest standards of integrity and quality in its research and analyses and in the evidence-based policy recommendations offered by its researchers and experts. We believe that operating consistent with the values of independence, rigor, and transparency is essential to maintaining those standards. As an organization, the Urban Institute does not take positions on issues, but it does empower and support its experts in sharing their own evidence-based views and policy recommendations that have been shaped by scholarship. Funders do not determine our research findings or the insights and recommendations of our experts. Urban scholars and experts are expected to be objective and follow the evidence wherever it may lead.



500 L'Enfant Plaza SW Washington, DC 20024

www.urban.org